Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-17-2017

State v. McKie Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45239

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I.

NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal originated from a magistrate court involving a "moped", and what constitutes a "motor vehicle" in relation to the application of Idaho's DUI laws. The intermediate appeal before the Honorable Gerald F. Schroeder, presiding, affirmed the magistrate, applying the analysis within *State v. Trusdall*, 155 Idaho 965, 318 P.3d 955 (Idaho App. 2014) wherein they defined a "motor vehicle" to be what is "self-propelled", while addressing the operation of a UTV, not excluded or exempt from within the statute as is the case of a "moped", wherein certain exemptions are declared from "motor vehicle", as the statutes, pursuant to the 2008 legislative amendments, had modified the definition of a moped and excluded them from the definition of motor vehicle. The *Trusdall* case, *supra*, did not concern the issue presented in this appeal.

The Appellant, a Boise resident, was charged with a DUI offense, alleging he operated a "motor vehicle", upon a public street in Boise, Idaho, while under the influence of alcohol, in violation of I.C. §18-8004, alleged as an "excessive". Appellant was operating his "moped" [a stipulated fact with the State], and was then riding his moped in the designated bike lane on Boise Avenue during the early morning hours of August 23, 2015.

The statutory definition of a "moped" was amended during the 2008 Legislative sessions regarding "slow moving, limited speed, motor driven cycles", expressly excluding them from what is a "motor vehicle".

The lower district court relied upon *Trusdall, supra*, and a limited analysis of "self-propelled", failing to address the analysis of the exclusionary provisions created by the 2008 Legislative amendments that apply to mopeds.

Trusdall, supra, dealt solely with a "UTV", a "mode of movement" not listed among the statutory **exceptions** of a motor vehicle; the Legislature has the exclusive right to makes the laws, as the legislative branch, and may declare what **is not a "motor vehicle"**, and as we focus upon "statutory definitions", the Legislature specifically **defined a "UTV"** to be a "motor vehicle", notwithstanding the circuitous analysis in *Trusdall*, as the definition begins with I.C. §49-122U(8), stating: "Utility type vehicle or UTV means a utility type vehicle or UTV as defined in section 67-7101, Idaho Code", wherein I.C. § 67-7101 defines a UTV:

(17) "Utility type vehicle" or "UTV" means any recreational **motor vehicle** other than an ATV, motorbike or snowmobile as defined in this section, designed for and capable of travel over designated roads, traveling on four (4) or more tires, maximum width less than seventy-four (74) inches, maximum weight less than two thousand (2,000) pounds, and having a wheelbase of one hundred ten (110) inches or less. A utility type vehicle must have a minimum width of fifty (50) inches, a minimum weight of at least nine hundred (900) pounds or a wheelbase of over sixty-one (61) inches. Utility type vehicle does not include golf carts, vehicles specially designed to carry a disabled person, implements of husbandry as defined in section 49-110(2), Idaho Code, or vehicles otherwise registered under title 49, Idaho Code. A "utility type vehicle" or "UTV" also means a recreational off-highway vehicle or ROV.

It remains of interest why the Court of Appeals found the need to engage in a "defining moment" to conclude a "UTV" is a "motor vehicle" because it is "self-propelled", when the existing statutory language defines it to be a "motor vehicle", and not excluded.

The *Trusdall* court engaged a contextual discussion of the general definition of "motor vehicle", acknowledging the 2008 legislative amendments, but failed to recite the legislative definition of "UTV", which effectively provided their answer for defining a "UTV" as a "recreational motor vehicle", nowhere excluded from the definition of "motor vehicle".

The legislature declared a "UTV" to be a **motor vehicle**, and dedicated much effort to describe specific design criteria, including tire contact with the road, the range of their width, weight, and wheelbase, and that definition did not meet any exempt or excluded criteria from the **recreational motor vehicle** definition, such as a golf cart, or a vehicle designed to carry a disabled person, implements of husbandry as defined in I.C. §49-110(2), or vehicles otherwise registered under title 49, Idaho Code. The *Trusdall* UTV was a "motor vehicle" under I.C. § 67-7101, and appeared unnecessary to analysis I.C. §49-123(V)(2)(h) to get the needed result.

Trusdall was not asked to address a "moped" in any manner, but *Trusdall*, did recognize there were declared exceptions to "motor vehicle", stating:

"However, the legislature has since amended I.C. §49-123(2)(g), adding the following emphasized language to the statute: Motor vehicle. Every vehicle which is self-propelled, and for the purpose of titling and registration meets federal motor vehicle safety standards as defined in section 49-107, Idaho Code. Motor vehicle does not include vehicles moved solely by human power, electric personal assistive mobility devices and motorized wheelchairs or other such vehicles that are specifically exempt from titling or registration requirements under title 49, Idaho Code. [3] (Emphasis ours).

The statutory citation to which *Trusdall* was referring is I.C §49-123(V)(2)(h), not I.C. §49-123(2)(g), as that provision (I.C. §49-123(V)(2)(g)), now refers to a glider kit. Within the statutory language that defines "moped", they are declared exempt from being titled (and apparently not to be registered either), as addressed hereafter.

What motivated the Court of Appeals to avoid the definition of "UTV", that in 2014 was cited as I.C. §49-122U(8), and I.C. § 67-7101(17), having before been defined that way ever since at least 2005, (as I.C. § 67-7101)(15)), and instead chose to engage statutory construction of various components of the "motor vehicle" definition, and explaining the need to avoid "superfluous language", provides no rational authority to apply that analysis to the statutory definition of "moped", as a moped is not the same "means of movement" as that of a "UTV, and more to the point, a moped is excluded from "motor vehicle" because mopeds are not to be titled.

Because of the "statutory definition" of a UTV, and the limited analysis within *Trusdall* to be only that which was before it, why our lower district court would cite the analysis presented in *Trusdall*, confronted only with a "UTV", when "moped" was never the subject, and the "exclusion" of a moped from the definition of motor vehicle was not before the Court of Appeals, presents the justification for the continuation of this appeal to the Idaho Supreme Court.

The "nature of this case" may be considered one of statutory interpretation, presenting a question of law to confirm that a "moped" is excluded from the definition of "motor vehicle" under Idaho law, and because of that, the lower appellate court erred when it determined Appellant was operating a motor vehicle, and was therefore committing a criminal act when he operated his Moped on Boise Avenue in the Bike lane, while having consumed alcohol, essentially no different than a bicyclist riding a bike along Boise Avenue, while having consumed alcohol.

II.

STANDARD OF REVIEW AND APPLICABLE LAW ON STATUTORY INTERPRETATIONS

The standard of review upon an appeal originating in the magistrate court is stated in various authorities, starting with *State v. DeWitt*, 145 Idaho 709, 184 P.3d 215 (App 2008), wherein it held:

"The Supreme Court has recently altered the standard by which we review a decision of the district court acting in its appellate capacity. Rather than directly reviewing the magistrate court's decision independently of, but with due regard for, the district court's decision, we instead directly review the district court's decision. Losser v. Bradstreet, 145 Idaho 670, 183 P.3d 758 (2008). We do examine the magistrate record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings. If those findings are so supported and the conclusions follow therefrom and if the district court affirmed the magistrate's decision, we affirm the district court's decision as a matter of procedure. Id.; Nicholls v. Blaser, 102 Idaho 559, 633 P.2d 1137 (1981)." (Emphasis ours)

Thereafter it was again stated within *State v. Trusdall*, 155 Idaho 965, 318 P.3d 955 (2014):

"The Supreme Court reviews the trial court (magistrate) record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings. If those findings are so supported and the conclusions follow therefrom and if the district court affirmed the magistrate's decision, we affirm the district court's decision as a matter of procedure. *Pelayo v. Pelayo*, 154 Idaho 855, 858-59, 303 P.3d 214, 217-18 (2013) (quoting *Bailey v. Bailey*, 153 Idaho 526, 529, 284 P.3d 970, 973 (2012)). Thus, the appellate courts do not review the decision of the magistrate court. *Bailey*, 153 Idaho at 529, 284 P.3d at 973. Rather, we are procedurally bound to affirm or reverse the decisions of the district court. *State v. Korn*, 148 Idaho 413, 415 n. 1, 224 P.3d 480, 482 n. 1 (2009)."

Again stated in Veenstra v. Veenstra & H&W, 40683 (Court of Appeals, 2/7/2014):

"On review of a decision of the district court, rendered in its appellate capacity, we examine the record from the magistrate court to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings. Losser v. Bradstreet, 145 Idaho 670, 672, 183 P.3d 758, 760 (2008); State v. DeWitt. 145 Idaho 709, 711, 184 P.3d 215, 217 (Ct. App. 2008). If those findings are so supported and the conclusions follow therefrom and if the district court affirmed the magistrate's decision, we affirm the district court's decision as a matter of procedure. Losser, 145 Idaho at 672, 183 P.3d at 760. Thus, this Court does not directly review the decision of the magistrate court. Bailey v. Bailey, 153 Idaho 526, 529, 284 P.3d 970, 973 (2012). Rather, we are procedurally bound to affirm or reverse the decisions of the district court. Id. Over questions of law, including statutory interpretation, we exercise free review. Fields v. State, 149 Idaho 399, 400, 234 P.3d 723, 724 (2010); Rhoades v. State, 148 Idaho 247, 250, 220 P.3d 1066, 1069 (2009); Downing v. State, 136 Idaho 367, 370, 33 P.3d 841, 844 (Ct. App. 2001)."

Again stated in *Peterson v. Peterson*, 156 Idaho 85, 320 P. 3d, 1244 (2014):

"In an appeal from a judgment of the district court acting in its appellate capacity over a case appealed to it from the magistrate court, we review the judgment of the district court. We exercise free review over the issues of law decided by the district court to determine whether it correctly stated and applied the applicable law." State Dep't of Health and Welfare v. Slane, 155 Idaho 274, 277, 311 P.3d 286, 289 (2013) (citations omitted)."

Recently stated in Workman v. Rich, 44701, (Court of Appeals, August 31, 2017):

"For an appeal from the district court, sitting in its appellate capacity over a case from the magistrate division, this Court's standard of review is the same as expressed by the Idaho Supreme Court. The Supreme Court reviews the magistrate record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings. *State v. Korn*, 148 Idaho 413, 415, 224 P.3d 480, 482 (2009). If those findings are so supported and the conclusions follow therefrom, and if the district court affirmed the magistrate's decision, we affirm the district court's decision as a matter of procedure. Id. Thus, the appellate courts do not review the decision of the magistrate. *State v. Trusdall*, 155 Idaho 965, 968, 318 P.3d 955, 958 (Ct. App. 2014). Rather, we are procedurally bound to affirm or reverse the decision of the district court. Id."

The standard of review for statutory interpretation remains one of free review, and the court's objective is to give effect to the legislative intent with respect to the interpretation of the Legislature's enactments. Among the more recent analysis is that expressed in *Hoffer v. Shappard*, 160 Idaho 870, 380 P.3d 681 (2016), wherein our Supreme Court reiterated the court's objective regarding statutory interpretation. It states:

"The objective of statutory interpretation is to give effect to legislative intent." State v. Yzaguirre, 144 Idaho 471, 475, 163 P.3d 1183, 1187 (2007). "when interpreting a statute, the Court begins with the literal words of the statute...." Williams v. Blue Cross of Idaho, 151 Idaho 515, 521, 260 P.3d 1186, 1192 (2011). "If the statutory language is unambiguous, the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect...." Idaho Youth Ranch, Inc. v. Ada Cnty. Bd. of Equalization, 157 Idaho 180, 184-85, 335 P.3d 25, 29-30 (2014) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting St. Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr., Ltd. v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Ada Cnty., 146 Idaho 753, 755, 203 P.3d 683, 685 (2009)). This Court does not have the authority to modify an unambiguous legislative enactment. Verska v. Saint Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr., 151 Idaho 889, 895, 265 P.3d 502, 508 (2011) (quoting Berry v. Koehler, 84 Idaho 170, 177, 369 P.2d 1010, 1013 (1962))." (Emphasis ours).

In State v. Lee, 37213 (Idaho Ct. of Appeals, 6-29-2011) Docket No. 37213, filed June 29, 2011, the Court of Appeals provided reference to the standard of review and objective of

statutory interpretation to always be to give effect to the plain language used in a statute, stating:

"This Court exercises free review over the application and construction of statutes. State v. Reyes, 139 Idaho 502, 505, 80 P.3d 1103, 1106 (Ct. App. 2003). Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, this Court must give effect to the statute as written, without engaging in statutory construction. State v. Rhode, 133 Idaho 459, 462, 988 P.2d 685, 688 (1999); State v. Burnight, 132 Idaho 654, 659, 978 P.2d 214, 219 (1999); State v. Escobar, 134 Idaho 387, 389, 3 P.3d 65, 67 (Ct. App. 2000). The language of the statute is to be given its plain, obvious, and rational meaning. Burnight, 132 Idaho at 659, 978 P.2d at 219. If the language is clear and unambiguous, there is no occasion for the court to resort to legislative history or rules of statutory interpretation. Escobar, 134 Idaho at 389, 3 P.3d at 67. When this Court must engage in statutory construction, it has the duty to ascertain the legislative intent and give effect to that intent. Rhode, 133 Idaho at 462, 988 P.2d at 688. To ascertain the intent of the legislature, not only must the literal words of the statute be examined, but also the context of those words, the public policy behind the statute and its legislative history. Id. It is incumbent upon a court to give a statute an interpretation which will not render it a nullity. State v. Beard, 135 Idaho 641, 646, 22 P.3d 116, 121 (Ct. App. 2001). Constructions of a statute that would lead to an absurd result are disfavored. State v. Doe, 140 Idaho 271, 275, 92 P.3d 521, 525 (2004); State v. Yager, 139 Idaho 680, 690, 85 P.3d 656, 666 (2004). The Court will not deal in subtle refinements of the legislation, but will ascertain and give effect to the purpose and intent of the legislature, based on the whole act and every word therein, lending substance and meaning to the provisions. State v. Payne, 146 Idaho 548, 575, 199 P.3d 123, 150 (2008)." (Emphasis ours).

In Ada County v. Gibson, 126 Idaho 854, 893 P. 2d 801 (1995), the appellate court stated:

"Interpretation of an ordinance, like construction of a statute, is an issue of law. Therefore, this Court exercises free review of the district court's decision. See State v. Nelson, 119 Idaho 444, 446, 807 P.2d 1282, 1284 (Ct.App.1991). It is axiomatic that the objective in interpreting a statute or ordinance is to derive the intent of the legislative body that adopted the act. Ada County Assessor v. Roman Catholic Diocese of Boise, 123 Idaho 425, 428, 849 P.2d 98, 101 (1993); Cox v. Department of Insurance, 121 Idaho 143, 146, 823 P.2d 177, 180 (Ct.App.1991). Any such analysis begins with the literal language of the enactment. Matter of Permit No. 36-7200, 121 Idaho 819, 823, 828 P.2d 848, 852 (1992); Local 1494 of Intern. Ass'n of Firefighters v. City of Coeur d'Alene, 99 Idaho 630, 639, 586 P.2d 1346, 1355 (1978); Messenger v. Burns, 86 Idaho 26, 29-30, 382 P.2d 913, 915 (1963). Where the statutory language is unambiguous, the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect, and there is no occasion for a court to consider rules of statutory construction. Ada County v. Roman Catholic Diocese, 123 Idaho at 428, 849 P.2d at 101; Matter of Permit No. 36-7200, 121 Idaho at 823, 828 P.2d at 852; Sherwood v. Carter, 119 Idaho 246, 254, 805 P.2d 452, 460 (1991). Where the language of a statute or ordinance is ambiguous, however, the court looks to rules of construction for guidance, Lawless v. Davis,

98 Idaho 175, 560 P.2d 497 (1977), and may consider the reasonableness of proposed interpretations. *Umphrey v. Sprinkel*, 106 Idaho 700, 706, 682 P.2d 1247, 1253 (1983). Constructions that would lead to absurd or unreasonably harsh results are disfavored. *Gavica v. Hanson*, 101 Idaho 58, 60, 608 P.2d 861, 863 (1980); *Lawless*, 98 Idaho at 177, 560 P.2d at 499." (Emphasis ours).

In Wheeler v. Idaho Dept. of Health and Welfare, 147 Idaho 257, 207 P.3d 988 (2009), the appellate courts again stated:

"When interpreting a statute, this Court must strive to give force and effect to the legislature's intent in passing the statute. Davaz v. Priest River Glass Co., Inc., 125 Idaho 333, 336, 870 P.2d 1292, 1295 (1994). "It must begin with the literal words of the statute; those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning; and the statute must be construed as a whole." McLean v. Maverik Country Stores, Inc., 142 Idaho 810, 813, 135 P.3d 756, 759 (2006) (citations omitted). "Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, this Court must give effect to the statute as written, without engaging in statutory construction." State v. Rhode, 133 Idaho 459, 462, 988 P.2d 685, 688 (1999). However, if the result is "palpably absurd," this Court must engage in statutory construction. Id. When engaging in statutory construction, this Court has a "duty to ascertain the legislative intent, and give effect to that intent." Id. " [T]he Court must construe a statute as a whole, and consider all sections of applicable statutes together to determine the intent of the legislature." Davaz, 125 Idaho at 336, 870 P.2d at 1295 (internal citation omitted). "[The Court] also must take account of all other matters such as the reasonableness of the proposed interpretations and the policy behind the statute." Id." (Emphasis ours).

The interpretation and application of a statute presents a question of law over which a court will exercise free review. *Grazer v. Jones*, 154 Idaho 58, 63-64, 294 P.3d 184, 189-190 (2013).

III.

SPECIAL REGARD TO CRIMINAL STATUTES

When a criminal statute is found to be constitutionally vague, such as with respect to the interpretation of the statutory language that becomes a specific element of the <u>criminal act</u>, the statute may be constitutionally flawed (see *State v. Lopez*, 98 Idaho 581, 570 P.2d 259 (1976), wherein a statute was held unconstitutionally vague, failing to further define the terms used in the statute, and failing to apprise a defendant what conduct violated the statute. The *Lopez* court focused upon the complaint, and whether it charged a criminal offense and alleged conduct with sufficient particularity that an accused would be informed what conduct constituted a criminal

offense. That court held the complaint defective because it did not describe an offense, and due process requires description of an offense, and the accused must be adequately apprised regarding the elements of the criminal offense.

In State v. Trusdall, 155 Idaho 965, 318 P.3d 955 (2014), the Court stated:

Additionally, if a criminal statute is ambiguous, the rule of lenity applies and the statute must be construed in favor of the accused. *State v. Morrison*, 143 Idaho 459, 461, 147 P.3d 91, 93 (Ct.App.2006). However, where a review of the legislative history and underlying public policy makes the meaning of the statute clear, the rule of lenity will not apply. *State v. Bradshaw*, 155 Idaho 437, 440, 313 P.3d 765, 768 (Ct.App.2013). If the ambiguity remains after examining the text, context, history, and policy of the statute, the interpretive tie between the two or more reasonable readings is resolved in favor of the defendant. Id. at 440-41, 313 P.3d at 768-69.

Since the Idaho Legislature excluded a moped from the titling requirement, thus excluding a moped from the definition of "motor vehicle" in 2008, the element of a "motor vehicle" in this criminal case is missing from the factual allegations filed against Appellant, as the State has stipulated Appellant was riding a moped, and by Idaho law, a moped is not a "motor vehicle".

A fundamental element in Idaho's DUI statute is the element the accused must be involved with the operation (to drive or be in actual physical control), of a "motor vehicle", while under the influence of alcohol. As this appellate court is infinitely familiar, the Idaho Jury Instruction states:

Idaho Jury Instructions Criminal Instructions SECTION 1000. DRIVING WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OR WITHOUT PRIVILEGES ICJI 1000. DRIVING WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE

INSTRUCTION NO

In order for the defendant to be guilty of driving under the Influence the state must prove each of the following:

- 1. On or about [date]
- 2. in the state of Idaho
- 3. the defendant [name], [drove] [or] [was in actual physical control of]
- 4. a [commercial] motor vehicle
- 5. upon a highway, street or bridge or upon public or private property open to the public,
- 6. [while under the influence of (a combination of) (alcohol) (or) (drugs) (or) (an intoxicating substance).] (Emphasis added)

There is no definition of "motor vehicle" in Title 18, Idaho Code, and the only definition

is found within Title 49, Idaho Code. As the Court in *State* v. *Knott*, 132 Idaho 476, 974 P.2d 1 105 (1999) then specifically observed:

"There is a close interaction between the Title 49 statutes and similar statutory provisions in Title 18, particularly the DUI provision found in section 18-8004. The statutes relate to the same subject matter and on occasions have been addressed by the legislature at the same time." 132 Idaho at 479, 974 P.2d at 1008.

After further observing that it was in 1984 that the DUI statute was transferred from Title 49 to Title 18, the Court then concluded that when identical terms are used in both sections they should be construed by reference to the common definitions provided in the Code. It stated:

"Idaho Code § 73-113 [now I.C. § 73-113(3)] indicates that words and phrases used in the Idaho Code are to be "construed according to the context and approved usage of the language." Given that identical terms are used in the statutes, and the legislature amended the relevant phrase to statutes in both Title 49 and Title 18 in the same bill after the DUI statute was transferred to the criminal code, the "context and approved usage" of the relevant phrase indicates that its meaning is the same in both titles." 132 Idaho at 479, 974 P.2d at 1008 (bracketed reference to change in statutory citation added).

Therefore, a court is required to go to Title 49, and if "different opinions" exist as to what a "motor vehicle" is defined to be, that raises the constitutionality of the DUI laws, when the essential element of the crime (a "motor vehicle") is being materially disregarded, as every individual accused of criminal activity must be adequately apprised what conduct constitutes the criminal act before being charged, and that requires a concise definition as to what a "motor vehicle" is, as it is promulgated by the legislature, and correctly enforced by the courts.

This Appellant relied entirely upon a judicial determination that had been rendered by an Ada County Magistrate that declared Idaho's 2008 Legislative amendments specifically defined "moped" to be <u>excluded</u> and <u>exempted</u> from the definition of "motor vehicle". For prosecutorial agencies to dispute legislative intent and embrace conflicting judicial interpretations of the Statutory definition, creates inevitable concerns Idaho's DUI Statute may be unconstitutionally flawed, if inconsistent definitions as to various "modes of movement" are allowed to exist, when some are specifically declared not to be motor vehicles. To allow this inconsistency renders a fundamental element of the crime of DUI to be vague and ambiguous, if different courts in the same judicial district define "motor vehicle" differently. That consequence serves to benefit this Appellant, due to the **Rule of Lenity** in criminal cases, as it is also stated in *State v. Alley*, 155

Idaho 972, 318 P.3d 962 (Ct App 2014), that:

"Additionally, if a criminal statute is ambiguous, the rule of lenity applies and the statute must be construed in favor of the accused. State v. Dewey, 131 Idaho 846, 848, 965 P.2d 206, 208 (Ct.App.1998); State v. Martinez, 126 Idaho 801, 803, 891 P.2d 1061, 1063 (Ct.App.1995). However, where a review of the legislative history makes the meaning of the statute clear, the rule of lenity will not be applied. State v. Bradshaw, 155 Idaho 437, 440, 313 P.3d 765, 768 (Ct.App.2013); State v. Jones, 151 Idaho 943, 947, 265 P.3d 1155, 1159 (Ct.App.2011). The rule of lenity applies only when grievous ambiguity or uncertainty in a criminal statute that is not resolved by looking at the text, context, legislative history, or underlying policy of the statute allows for multiple reasonable constructions. Bradshaw, 155 Idaho at 441, 313 P.3d at 769." (Emphasis ours).

As also recently stated in *State v. Olsen*, 161 Idaho 385, 386 P.3d 908 (2016), the Supreme Court held that:

"Statutory interpretation is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. <u>'The rule of lenity states that criminal statutes must be strictly construed in favor of defendants.'"</u> State v. Anderson, 145 Idaho 99, 103, 175 P.3d 788, 792 (2008)." (Emphasis ours).

It would therefore appear that the "Rule of Lenity" is an element of statutory construction, and not to be viewed as an issue that is being raised within the appeal.

IV.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Appellant was stopped by a Boise City Police Officer because of a tail light failure. Appellant was operating what the Officer then described to be a "small motorcycle" in the bicycle lane, along Boise Avenue, on August 23, 2015, at 2:37 a.m.. The officer charged Appellant with two citations, No. 1454043, alleging the act of driving a *motor vehicle* while under the influence of alcohol (second offense), and a second Citation, containing two violations, No. 1454044, alleging Appellant was operating a *motor vehicle* with fictitious display, and Failure to carry or show proof of liability insurance while operating a *motor vehicle*.

An initial plea of not guilty was entered; discovery exchanged, a motion to dismiss filed, though deemed untimely by the lower court, despite being perceived by Defense counsel as a jurisdictional issue under Rule 12(b)(2), I.C.R., capable of being raised any time during the proceedings, and following that denial, briefing ensued in the course of addressing what

instructions would be given to the jury.

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