# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-15-2017

## State v. McKie Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45239

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### McKie Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Appellate Opinion

#### A. Introduction

McKie pled guilty to driving a moped on a city street with a BAC of .253. (R., pp. 57-62.) On appeal he claims that the district court erred by affirming the magistrate's decision that a "motor vehicle" does not automatically exclude mopeds, and therefore would be submitted to a properly instructed jury. (Appellant's brief, pp. 19-47.) Review shows no error. To the contrary, the plain language of the statute provides that self-propelled vehicles are motor vehicles, with certain exceptions that do not include mopeds.

#### B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

On review of a decision rendered by a district court in its intermediate appellate capacity, the reviewing court "directly review[s] the district court's decision to determine whether it correctly decided the issues presented to it on appeal." Borely v. Smith, 149 Idaho 171, 176, 233 P.3d 102, 107 (2010) (citing Idaho Dept. of Health and Welfare v. Doe, 148 Idaho 124, 126, 219 P.3d 448, 450 (2009)); see also Losser v. Bradstreet, 145 Idaho 670, 183 P.3d 758 (2008).

The interpretation and construction of a statute present questions of law over which the appellate court exercises free review. <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 140 Idaho 796, 798, 102 P.3d 1115, 1117 (2004); <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 133 Idaho 378, 380, 987 P.2d 290, 292 (1999).

#### C. The Statute Does Not Exempt Mopeds From The Definition Of Motor Vehicle

The objective of statutory interpretation is to give effect to legislative intent. <u>State v. Pina</u>, 149 Idaho 140, 144, 233 P.3d 71, 75 (2010); <u>Robison v. Bateman-Hall, Inc.</u>, 139

Idaho 207, 210, 76 P.3d 951, 954 (2003). Because "the best guide to legislative intent" is the words of the statute, the interpretation of a statute must begin with the literal words of the statute. State v. Doe, 147 Idaho 326, 328, 208 P.3d 730, 732 (2009). Where the statutory language is unambiguous, a court does not construe it but simply follows the law as written. McLean v. Maverik Country Stores, Inc., 142 Idaho 810, 813, 135 P.3d 756, 759 (2006); see also State v. Locke, 149 Idaho 641, 642, 239 P.3d 34, 35 (Ct. App. 2010) (where language of statute is plain and unambiguous, appellate court must give effect to statute as written, without engaging in construction). Thus, if the plain language of a statute is capable of only one reasonable interpretation, it is the Court's duty to give the statute that interpretation. Verska v. St. Alphonsus Regional Medical Center, 151 Idaho 889, 895-96, 265 P.3d 502, 508-09 (2011) (disavowing cases with language that Court might not give effect to unambiguous language of statute if such was "palpably absurd").

Idaho's DUI statute applies to any person under the influence and "in actual physical control of a motor vehicle within this state." I.C. § 18-8004(1)(a). The Idaho Supreme Court has indicated that the statutory definition of the term "motor vehicle" as set forth in Title 49 applies to the DUI statutes. <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 133 Idaho 378, 381, 987 P.2d 290, 293 (1999). That title, in turn, provides the following definition of "motor vehicle":

Every vehicle which is self-propelled, and for the purpose of titling and registration meets federal motor vehicle safety standards as defined in section 49-107, Idaho Code. Motor vehicle does not include vehicles moved solely by human power, electric personal assistive mobility devices and motorized wheelchairs or other such vehicles that are specifically exempt from titling or registration requirements under title 49, Idaho Code.

I.C. § 49-123(2)(g). Under this plain language, a motor vehicle is broadly defined as one that "is self-propelled." Id. For the "purpose of titling and registration" a motor vehicle is one that "meets federal motor vehicle safety standards as defined in section 49-107, Idaho

Code." Id. Excluded from the definition are "[1] vehicles moved solely by human power, [2] electric personal assistive mobility devices and [3] motorized wheelchairs or other such vehicles that are specifically exempt from titling or registration requirements under title 49, Idaho Code." Id.

"The plain language of I.C. § 49–123(2)(g) continues to define motor vehicles as every vehicle which is self-propelled." State v. Trusdall, 155 Idaho 965, 969, 318 P.3d 955, 959 (Ct. App. 2014). In Trusdall, the Idaho Court of Appeals rejected the argument that because Trusdall's UTV did not meet the federal motor vehicle safety standards, it was not a "motor vehicle" for purposes of the DUI statute. Id. at 969-70, 318 P.3d at 959-60. The Court of Appeals reasoned that to so read the statute would render language in the statute superfluous, and thus contradict the directive that all words and provisions of the statute are to be given effect. Id.

The same analysis applies here to McKie's argument that lack of titling or registration requirements exempts his moped from being considered a motor vehicle for purposes of the DUI statute. Because the moped McKie was driving under the influence was self-propelled (see R., p. 61), it fits the definition of motor vehicle unless excluded. The first category of excluded vehicles is "vehicles moved solely by human power." I.C. § 49-123(2)(g). The moped is not within this exclusion as it was propelled by an engine. (R., p. 61.) The second category of vehicles excluded is "electric personal assistive mobility devices." I.C. § 49-123(2)(g). Again, the moped was not with in this exclusion for several reasons, including that its motor was not electric. (R., p. 61.)

The third and final excluded category is "motorized wheelchairs or other such vehicles that are specifically exempt from titling or registration requirements under title

49, Idaho Code." I.C. § 49-123(2)(g). Title 49, by operation of two statutes, excludes from registration requirements "self-propelled wheelchairs, three-wheeled bicycles, wheelchair conveyances, golf carts, lawn mowers, and scooters operated by persons who by reason of physical disability are otherwise unable to move about as pedestrians." I.C. § 49-401A(1) (excluding vehicles exempted under section 426); I.C. § 49-426(2) (listing the exempted vehicles and containing the quote set forth). These statutes, therefore, read together, provide a broad list of "motorized wheelchairs or other such vehicles" exempted from the definition of "motor vehicle." The list is not so broad, however, as to include McKie's moped. (R., p. 61.) Because the moped is self-propelled and does not fit within any of the exceptions, it is a motor vehicle.

McKie argues the phrase "or other such vehicles that are specifically exempt from titling or registration requirements" excludes his moped from the definition of motor vehicle because mopeds need not be titled. (Appellant's brief, pp. 34-35.) This argument fails grammatically because the list of exceptions, as argued above, is a list of three conjunctive things ("[1] vehicles moved solely by human power, [2] electric personal assistive mobility devices and [3] motorized wheelchairs or other such vehicles that are specifically exempt from titling or registration requirements"), not a disjunctive list ("[1] vehicles moved solely by human power, [2] electric personal assistive mobility devices and motorized wheelchairs[,] or [3] other such vehicles that are specifically exempt from titling or registration requirements") as argued by McKie. The phrase starting "or other vehicles"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The state has here inserted the comma necessary for McKie's interpretation of the statute to be grammatically correct. The absence of the comma in the actual text of the statute undercuts his argument, as he must rely on a grammatically incorrect reading of the language.

merely modifies the preceding phrase regarding "motorized wheelchairs," and is not an exclusion from the definition of motor vehicles in its own right.

Even if "other such vehicles that are specifically exempt from titling or registration requirements" were a category unto itself, McKie's argument still fails because it ignores the language, "other such." Indeed, if the legislature meant to exclude all vehicles that did not require both titling and registration, it would have said just that and would not have included the "vehicles moved solely by human power, electric personal assistive mobility devices and motorized wheelchairs" language. The language listing the three specifically exempted vehicles that require no titling or title or registration is thus rendered superfluous by McKie's reading.<sup>2</sup>

Motor vehicle is generally defined as every vehicle which is self-propelled. I.C. § 49–123(2)(g). The plain language of the statute excludes from this definition only "vehicles moved solely by human power, electric personal assistive mobility devices and motorized wheelchairs or other such vehicles that are specifically exempt from titling or registration requirements." Id. A moped is not moved solely by human power; is not an electric personal assistive mobility device; and is not a motorized wheelchair or other such vehicle. The argument for excluding mopeds is basically the same as the one for excluding utility type vehicles rejected in <u>Trusdall</u>, 155 Idaho at 969-70, 318 P.3d at 959-60. McKie has therefore failed to show error by the district court when it affirmed that the jury would decide if a moped was a motor vehicle under correct instruction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The state further notes that if McKie's reading of the statute were adopted it would not be illegal to drive a myriad of cars or other vehicles while intoxicated, including, for example: government vehicles, farm vehicles generally (including motorcycles, motorbikes and utility type vehicles used in agriculture), many construction vehicles, street sweepers, and forestry equipment. I.C. §§ 49-401A, 49-426.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the district court's appellate opinion affirming the magistrate's ruling.